
1 
 

December 9, 2025 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
COBALT COMMUNITY HALL  

December 9, 2025 at 6:30 p.m. 
AGENDA 

  
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest and the General Nature Thereof 
 

3. Public Meetings  
 

4. Deputations/Delegation  
 

5. Adoption of Meeting Agenda 
 

 DRAFT MOTION 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council approve the agenda of the Regular Meeting dated December 9, 2025 
as presented. 

 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 DISCUSSION   
 VOTE 
 

6. Adoption of Previous Council Minutes           
 

DRAFT MOTION 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council approve the following minutes as presented:  
 

Regular Meeting of Council – November 12, 2025 
Special Meeting of Council – November 18, 2025 
Special Meeting of Council – November 25, 2025 
 

Moved by:    Seconded by: 
 

 DISCUSSION  
 VOTE 
 

7. Staff Reports 
 

DRAFT MOTION  
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council accept the staff reports as presented.  
 

Moved by:    Seconded by:  
 

DISCUSSION  
 

 7.1 Staff Report 2025.12.09.01 – Municipal Credit Cards 
  

 7.2 Staff Report 2025.12.09.02 – TMSA By-Law 2025-38 
  

 7.3 Staff Report 2025.12.09.03 – Amendment No. 8 to User Fee By-Law  
 

VOTE 



2 
 

December 9, 2025 

8. Items for Council consideration 
 

8.1 2026 Council Calendar 
 

DRAFT MOTION 
 

WHEREAS pursuant Section 6.3.1 of Procedural By-Law 2022-25 that public notice of meetings shall be 
given by posting the meeting schedule as per the Term of Council – Calendar as adopted by Council; 
 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council adopt the following Term of Council – Calendar for 2026:  
 

• January 13, 2026 

• February 3, 2026 

• March 3, 2026 

• March 31, 2026 

• April 28, 2026 

• May 26, 2026 

• June 23, 2026 

• July 21, 2026 

• August 18, 2026 

• September 15, 2026 

• October 13, 2026 

• November 10, 2026 

• December 8, 2026 
 

 AND FURTHER THAT The Term of Council – Calendar be posted on the Town’s official website.  
 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 DISCUSSION  
 VOTE 
 

8.2 Mayor Adshead – Leave of Absence 
 

 DRAFT MOTION 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council hereby grants a leave of absence for Mayor Angela Adshead 
effective November 25, 2025 and ending March 3, 2026 as per section 259(1)(c) of the Municipal Act, 
2001.  
 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 DISCUSSION  
 VOTE 

 
8.3 Cobalt Public Library Board Vacancy 

 

DRAFT MOTION  
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council declares a vacancy on the Cobalt Public Library Board;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council approves the recommendation from the Cobalt Public Library Board to 
appoint a representative from the Town of Latchford. 
 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 DISCUSSION 
VOTE 

  



3 
 

December 9, 2025 

8.4 Increase to Credit Card Limit & Issuing of New Credit Card for the Cobalt Public Library  

(Staff Report 2025.12.09.01) 
 

DRAFT MOTION  
 
WHEREAS Council received Staff Report 2025.12.09.01; 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT for ease of completing Council approved purchasing, the 
Council of the Town of Cobalt hereby authorize that the Municipal credit card be increase to a limit of 
$20,000; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Council of the Town of Cobalt hereby authorizes a credit card be issued for 
the Cobalt Public Library in the amount of $5,000.00.  
 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 
 DISCUSSION  
 VOTE 
 

8.5 Canada Day 2026 Committee 
 

DRAFT MOTION  
 

WHEREAS at the Regular Meeting of Council dated October 14, 2025, Council directed Staff to contact 
local service boards and advertise for applicants to apply to the Canada Day 2026 Committee; 
 

AND WHEREAS the following applicants have been received:  
1. Mark Ziller – Golden Age Club 
 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council appoints the Mark Ziller to the Canada Day 2026 
Committee alongside Admin Staff for the Town of Cobalt;  
 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 DISCUSSION  
 VOTE 

 
8.6 Request for Support – Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal – Ontario Community 
Infrastructure Fund (OCIF) 

 

DRAFT MOTION  
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT The Town of Cobalt supports the Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal 
Resolution regarding Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund (OCIF) and their call upon the 
Government of Ontario to extend the annual OCIF envelope at not less than $400 million beyond its 
current five-year term ending in 2026, with no reductions in subsequent provincial budgets. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT this resolution be forward to The Honourable Doug Ford, Premier of Ontario, 
The Honourable Kinga Surma, Minister of Infrastructure, The Honourable Rob Flack, Minister of 
Municipal Affairs and Housing, The Honourable Francois-Phillipe Champagne, Minister of Finance, 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), local MPs and MPPs, and Federation of Northern 
Ontario Municipalities (FONOM). 

 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 DISCUSSION  
 VOTE 
  



4 
 

December 9, 2025 

8.7 Request for Support – FONOM – National-Building Improvements to Hwy 11/17 (2+1 & Four-Lane 
Options) 

 

DRAFT MOTION  
 

WHEREAS Canada's east-west trade and national mobility rely on the Trans-Canada Highway system, 
including Highways 17 and 11 across Northern and Eastern Ontario, which carry significant freight volumes 
but remain predominantly two-lane corridors;  
 

AND WHEREAS four-laning the entirety of Highway 17 is the ultimate goal of the communities along the 
corridor;  
 

AND WHEREAS the proven "2+1" highway design - alternating passing lanes with a continuous median 
barrier - delivers safety outcomes comparable to full twinning at substantially lower cost, land, and 
environmental impact, and can be scaled or converted to four lanes (2+2) as volumes grow;  
 

AND WHEREAS the Government of Ontario has announced a 2+1 pilot between North Bay and Temagami 
and a further extension toward Cochrane, creating a near-term implementation pathway;  
 

AND WHEREAS modernizing Highways 17 and 11 will improve safety, reduce closures, strengthen supply-
chain reliability for mining, forestry, agriculture, tourism and manufacturing, and enhance national resilience 
and emergency response capacity;  
 

AND WHEREAS a phased 2+1 build - prioritizing Highway 11 (North Bay - Cochrane, then Cochrane - 
Nipigon) and key sections of Highway 17 (western border of County of Renfrew- Sudbury; Sault Ste. Marie- 
Sudbury; Thunder Bay- Kenora) - aligns with nation-building criteria, supports economic reconciliation with 
Indigenous partners, and enables integrated EV charging and low-carbon construction practices;  
 

AND WHEREAS analysis summarized by the Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities, (FONOM) 
demonstrates high freight demand on these routes and strong safety/economic rationale for a 2+1 program; 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council for the Corporation of the Town of Cobalt formally endorses the adoption 
and phased implementation of a 2+1 highway program on Highways 17 and 11 as a nation-building project;  
 

AND THAT the Government of Canada be urged to designate this initiative as a project of national interest 
under the Building Canada Act and to partner with Ontario to co-fund and accelerate planning, design, 
procurement, and construction;  
AND THAT the Government of Ontario be urged to expand the announced pilot to a corridor-wide program, 
sequencing works as follows (subject to readiness and safety benefit): 
 

AND THAT the Government of Ontario prioritize these projects into the Ministry of Transportation's Major 
Projects Division; 
 

AND THAT both governments ensure early, ongoing, and capacity-supported engagement with affected 
Indigenous Nations, with opportunities for Indigenous training, contracting, and equity participation;  
 

AND THAT the program incorporate corridor-wide safety features (barrier-separated 2+1 cross-sections, 
controlled passing frequency, wildlife considerations), resilience measures (closure mitigation, climate 
adaptation), and clean-growth elements (EV charging readiness, recycled aggregates, lower-carbon 
materials); 
 

AND THAT this resolution be sent to the Prime Minister of Canada, the Premier of Ontario, the Minister of 
Transport (Canada), the Minister of Infrastructure (Canada), the Ontario Minister of Transportation, local 
MPs and MPPs, Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities (FONOM), Northwestern Ontario Municipal 
Association (NOMA), Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), Federation of Canadian Municipalities 
(FCM), Rural Ontario Municipal Association (ROMA). 
 

Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 
DISCUSSION  
VOTE 

  



5 
 

December 9, 2025 

9. Items for Council information  
 

 DRAFT MOTION 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council accept the items for Council information as presented.  
  

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 DISCUSSION  
  

9.1 Northeastern Public Health – Board of Health Minutes – October 23, 2025 
 

9.2 DTSSAB – Q3 2025 Report  
 

9.3 St. James Anglican Church – Request for Financial Support  
 

VOTE 
 

10. By-Laws and Agreements 
 

10.1 By-Law 2025-38 Respecting Construction, Demolition and Change of Use Permits and 
Inspections (Staff Report 2025.12.09.02) 

 

 DRAFT MOTION  
 

WHEREAS Council received Staff Report 2025.12.09.02; 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT By-Law 2025-38 Respecting Construction, Demolition 
and Change of Use Permits and Inspections be taken as read a first, second and third time and finally 
passed this 9th day of December, 2025; 
 

 AND FURTHER THAT the said By-Law be signed and sealed by the Mayor and Clerk. 
 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 DISCUSSION     
VOTE 
 

10.2 By-Law 2025-39 Amendment No. 8 to User Fee By-Law 2023-33 (Staff Report 2025.12.09.03) 
 

 DRAFT MOTION  
 

WHEREAS Council received Staff Report 2025.12.09.03 with the proposed user fees for Schedule “G” 
– Animal Control Services of User Fee By-Law 2023-33; 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT By-Law 2025-40 to adopt Amendment No. 8 to User Fee 
By-Law 2023-33 be taken as read a first, second and third time and finally passed this 9th day of 
December, 2025; 
 

 AND FURTHER THAT the said By-Law be signed and sealed by the Mayor and Clerk. 
 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 DISCUSSION     
VOTE 
 

11. Unfinished Business  
 
 
 
  



6 
 

December 9, 2025 

12.  New Business  
 

12.1 Schedule of Accounts  
 

DRAFT MOTION  
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council receives the following Schedules as presented:  
  

Schedule No. 2025-22 in the amount of $242,179.66 
Schedule No. 2025-23 in the amount of $27,344.20 

 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 DISCUSSION  
 VOTE 
 

13.   Mayor’s Report 
 
 

14. Closed Meeting   
  

 DRAFT MOTION  
  

 BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council convene in Closed Session as per Section 239 of the Municipal Act, 
 2001 as amended, in order to address a matter pertaining to subsection: 
 

 (2)(a) Security of the property of the municipality or local board; 
 

 (2)(b) Personal matter about an identifiable individual, including municipal or local board employees; 
 

(2)(i) a trade secret or scientific, technical, commercial, financial or labour relations information, 
supplied in confidence to the municipality or local board. 

 

 Moved by:    Seconded by: 
 

 VOTE 
 

15. Business Arising from Closed Meeting 
 
 

16.       Confirmation By-Law 
 

 DRAFT BY-LAW  
 

 BE IT RESOLVED THAT By-Law No. 2025-40 being a By-Law to confirm the proceedings of  
 Council of the Corporation of the Town of Cobalt be taken as read a first, second and third time  
 this 9th day of December, 2025; 
 

 AND FURTHER THAT the said By-Law be signed and sealed by the Mayor and Clerk.  
 

 Moved by:    Seconded by:   
 

 VOTE  
 

17. Adjournment  
 

 DRAFT MOTION  
 

 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Regular Meeting of Council be adjourned at   p.m. 
 

 Moved by:    Seconded by: 
 

 VOTE         



1 
 

November 12, 2025 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
COBALT COMMUNITY HALL  

November 12, 2025 
MINUTES 

  
 

Present:  
 

Mayor:  Angela Adshead  
 

Councillors:  Pat Anderson  
   Gary Hughes    
   Rene Lafleur  
   Jim Starchuk 
   Doug Wilcox 
 
 

Staff:   S. Dalley, Town Manager  
   C. Beaudoin, Deputy Clerk-Treasurer 
     
1. Call to Order 

Mayor Adshead called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
 

2. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest and the General Nature Thereof 
None 
 

3. Public Meetings  
None 
 

4. Deputations/Delegation 
4.1 Dan Larocque – Bunker Military Museum 
Dan Larocque, Curator and Manager for the Bunker Military Museum and Darcy Griffith, Member of the 
Board of Directors for the Bunker Military Museum presented their request for an extension of either an 
extension or negotiate a renewal to the existing lease at 24 Prospect Avenue.  
 

5. Adoption of Meeting Agenda 
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-169 
MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur 
SECONDED BY: Councillor Starchuk 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council approve the agenda of the Regular Meeting dated November 12, 
2025 as presented. 
 

           CARRIED 

6. Adoption of Previous Council Minutes           
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-170 
MOVED BY:  Councillor Starchuk  
SECONDED BY: Councillor Hughes 
 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council approve the following minutes as presented:  
 

Regular Meeting of Council – October 14, 2025 
 
          CARRIED   



2 
 

November 12, 2025 

7. Staff Reports 
 

 RESOLUTION No. 2025-171 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Anderson 

 

 BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council accept the staff reports as presented.  
 

 7.1 Cobalt Public Library Minutes – September 2025 
  

 7.2 Staff Report 2025.11.12.01 – Surplus Lot – 1 North Avenue  
 

7.3 Staff Report 2025.11.12.02 – Timiskaming District Joint Compliance Audit Committee 2026-2029 
 
           CARRIED  
 

8.    Items for Council consideration 
  

 8.1 International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against Women 
 

 RESOLUTION No. 2025-172 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Wilcox 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Starchuk 
 
WHEREAS violence continues to be the greatest gender inequality rights issue for women, girls and gender-
diverse individuals;  
 

AND WHEREAS November is Woman Abuse Prevention Month;  
 

AND WHEREAS November 25th is the International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against Women;   
 

AND WHEREAS femicide rates are on the rise in Ontario, with over 62 femicides occurring in Ontario in 2024. 
 

AND WHEREAS our community is committed to ending femicide and all forms of gender-based violence;  
 

AND WHEREAS Indigenous, Black, South Asian and South East Asian women and girls continue to experience 
higher rates of violence, including femicide;  
 

AND WHEREAS last year in Ontario, on average every 6 days a woman or child lost their life due to femicide;  
 

AND WHEREAS in five of the last six years, at least one person from the District of Timiskaming was the victim of 
femicide; 
 

AND WHEREAS this month and throughout the 16 Days of Activism Against Gender-Based Violence, we 
acknowledge our community’s support of the Wrapped in Courage campaign and commitment to ending gender-
based violence;  
 

AND WHEREAS there is an urgent need for greater investment and action to end gender-based violence in our 
community and throughout Ontario;  
 

AND WHEREAS it is recognized that the courage of a woman alone is not enough, it takes an entire community to 
end gender-based violence;  
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT  I, Angela Adshead Mayor for the Town of Cobalt proclaim and declare that November 
25th, 2025 shall be known as “The International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against Women” and 
urge all citizens to recognize this day by acting to support survivors of gender-based violence. 

 
          CARRIED 
 

  
  



3 
 

November 12, 2025 

8.2 Bunker Military Museum Request – Part 1 
 

 RESOLUTION No. 2025-173 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Anderson 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Lafleur  
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council     (approve / deny) Bunker Military Museum’s request 
to negotiate a new lease. 

    

           NO VOTE 
 

 RESOLUTION No. 2025-174 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Wilcox 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Lafleur  
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council extend the Bunker Military Museum’s lease for 2 years.  
 

 Recorded Vote: 
  

 Councillor Anderson F  Councillor Lafleur  F 
 Councillor Hughes F  Councillor Starchuk  F 
 Councillor Ward  F  Councillor Wilcox  F 
 Mayor Adshead F 
 
 For – 6  Against – 0  Absent - 0    CARRIED 

  
 

8.3 Bunker Military Museum Request – Part 2 (if required) 
 

 RESOLUTION No.  
 MOVED BY:  Councillor  
 SECONDED BY: Councillor 
 

WHEREAS Council denied the Bunker Military Museum’s request to negotiate a new lease; 
 
AND WHEREAS By-Law 2021-07 being a By-Law to enter into a lease agreement with the Bunker 
Military Museum for a term of 5 years which commenced on Jan 1, 2021 and will end on Jan 1, 2026; 
 
AND WHEREAS Section 5 of By-Law 2021-07 states that either party may terminate the lease at the 
end of the term by giving notice of its intention not to renew the lease at least 60 days prior to the expiry 
of the term; 
 
AND WHEREAS notice was given to the Bunker of the Town’s intention not to renew the term on 
October 20, 2025; 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council has set the following date as the deadline to 
surrender the property to the Town of Cobalt:     . 
           
          NOT TABLED 
 
 

  



4 
 

November 12, 2025 

8.4 Surplus Lot – 1 North Avenue (Staff Report 2025.11.12.01) 
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-175 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Anderson 

 
WHEREAS at the Regular Council Meeting on August 19, 2025, Council declared 1 North Avenue as 
surplus and be advertised for sale;  
 

AND WHEREAS a tender has been received;  
 

AND WHEREAS Council received Staff Report 2025.11.12.01; 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council approve the sale of 1 North Avenue to Michel 
Ouellette for the sum of $14,000.00 plus applicable legal fees, appraisals, survey and any other fees 
without limitation incurred by the Town in connection with the sale of the land; 
 

AND FURTHER THAT Council directs staff to proceed with the necessary documents. 
 
          CARRIED 
 

8.5 Cobalt Fire Department – Request for New Members 
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-176 
MOVED BY:  Councillor Wilcox 
SECONDED BY: Councillor Lafleur  
 

WHEREAS Council received the report for the Cobalt Fire Department requesting Council’s approval to 
appoint three new members to the department; 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council approve the recommendation from the Cobalt 
Fire Chief to appoint the following applicants as volunteer firefighters to the Cobalt Fire Department: 
Rheal Allard, Dean Franks and Travis O’Neil. 

 

            CARRIED 
9. Items for Council information  
 

 RESOLUTION No. 2025-177 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Wilcox 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Lafleur 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council accept the items for Council information as presented.  
 

9.1 Northeastern Public Health Board Minutes – September 2025 
 

9.2 Cobalt Historical Society Minutes – October 27, 2025 
 

9.3 Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund (OMPF) 2026 Allocation Notice 
 

9.4 Cobalt Public Library Financial Update 
 

9.5 Cobalt 2026 Budget Update 
           CARRIED 
  



5 
 

November 12, 2025 

10. By-Laws and Agreements 
  

10.1 By-Law 2025-35 to Establish and Appoint the 2026-2029 Timiskaming District Joint 
Compliance Audit Committee (Staff Report 2025.11.12.02) 

 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-178 
MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur 
SECONDED BY: Councillor Wilcox 
 

WHEREAS Council received Staff Report 2025.11.12.02; 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT By-Law 2025-35 to establish and appoint the 2026-2029 
Timiskaming District Joint Compliance Audit Committee be taken as read a first, second and third time  

 this 12th day of November, 2025; 
 

 AND FURTHER THAT the said By-Law be signed and sealed by the Mayor and Clerk. 
  
           CARRIED 
 

10.2 By-Law 2025-36 to Adopt the Timiskaming District Joint Compliance Audit Committee 2026-
2029 Terms of Reference (Staff Report 2025.11.12.02) 
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-179 
MOVED BY:  Councillor Anderson 
SECONDED BY: Councillor Starchuk 

 
WHEREAS Council received Staff Report 2025.11.12.02; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT By-Law 2025-36 to Adopt the Timiskaming District Joint 
Compliance Audit Committee 2026-2029 Terms of Reference be taken as read a first, second and third 
time this 12th day of November, 2025; 
 

 AND FURTHER THAT the said By-Law be signed and sealed by the Mayor and Clerk. 
 
           CARRIED 
 
11. Unfinished Business 
 None 
 

12.  New Business  
 

12.1 Schedule of Accounts  
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-180 
MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur 
SECONDED BY: Councillor Anderson 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council receives the following Schedules as presented:  
 

Schedule No. 2025-20 in the amount of $145,963.85 
Schedule No. 2025-21 in the amount of $  81,920.18 
          CARRIED  

 
13. Mayor’s Report 

 

The Mayor congratulated the committee that submitted the Town of Cobalt for the Home Town 
Takeover Canada on all their hard work. She also announced that the Annual Christmas in the Park, 
which includes the lighting of the downtown trees will take place on December 6, 2025 at 6 p.m. 

 



6 
 

November 12, 2025 

 
14. Closed Meeting   
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-181 
MOVED BY:  Councillor Anderson  
SECONDED BY: Councillor Hughes 

 

 BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council convene in Closed Session as per Section 239 of the Municipal Act, 
 2001 as amended, in order to address a matter pertaining to subsection: 
 

 (2)(a) Security of the property of the municipality or local board; 
 

 (2)(b) Personal matter about an identifiable individual, including municipal or local board employees; 
 

(2)(f) Advice that is subject to solicitor/client privilege, including communications necessary for that 
purpose. 

           CARRIED 
 

15. Business Arising from Closed Meeting 
Direction was given to Staff on Closed Session matters. A Special Meeting of Council is scheduled for 
November 18, 2025 at 6:30 p.m. 

 

16.       Confirmation By-Law 
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-182 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Anderson 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Starchuk 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED THAT By-Law No. 2025-37 being a By-Law to confirm the proceedings of  
 Council of the Corporation of the Town of Cobalt be taken as read a first, second and third time  
 this 12th day of November, 2025; 
 

 AND FURTHER THAT the said By-Law be signed and sealed by the Mayor and Clerk.  
 

           CARRIED     
17. Adjournment  
 

 RESOLUTION No. 2025-183 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Wilcox 
 SECONDED BY:  Councillor Ward 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Regular Meeting of Council be adjourned at 8:18 p.m. 
 

           CARRIED   
 
 
 
 
          ___________________________ 
          Angela Adshead, Mayor   
 
 
 
 
 
          ____________________________ 
          Steven Dalley, Clerk    



1 
 

November 18, 2025 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

                SPECIAL MEETING 
COBALT COMMUNITY HALL   

November 18, 2025 
MINUTES 

  
 

Present: 
 

Mayor:  Angela Adshead  
 

Councillors:   
   Gary Hughes 
   Rene Lafleur  
   Jim Starchuk 
   Doug Wilcox  
 
Absent:  Pat Anderson (with notice) 
 

Staff:   S. Dalley, Town Manager/Clerk-Treasurer 
   C. Beaudoin, Deputy Clerk-Treasurer 

 
1. Call to Order: 

Mayor Adshead called the meeting to order at 6:37 p.m.  
 
2. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest and the General Nature Thereof 

None 
 
3. Adoption of Meeting Agenda 
 
 RESOLUTION No. 2025-184 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Ward 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council approve the agenda of the Special Meeting dated November 18, 
2025 as presented. 

   

CARRIED 
 

         
4. Closed Session 

 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-185 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur  
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Wilcox 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council convene in Closed Session as per Section 239 of the Municipal Act, 
 2001 as amended, in order to address a matter pertaining to subsection: 
 

 (2)(b) Personal matter about an identifiable individual, including municipal or local board employees; 
 

(2)(f) Advice that is subject to solicitor/client privilege, including communications necessary for that 
purpose. 

 

CARRIED 
 



2 
 

November 18, 2025 

5.  Business Arising from Closed Meeting 
 None 
 
6.  Adjournment              
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-186 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Wilcox 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Special Meeting of Council be adjourned at 9:25p.m. 
 
           CARRIED 
 
 
 
 
 
          ________________________ 
          Angela Adshead, Mayor 
 
 
 
          _________________________ 
          Steven Dalley, Clerk   



1 
 

November 25, 2025 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

                SPECIAL MEETING 
COBALT COMMUNITY HALL   

November 25, 2025 
MINUTES 

  
 

Present: 
 

Mayor:  Angela Adshead  
 

Councillors:  Pat Anderson 
   Gary Hughes 
   Rene Lafleur  
   Jim Starchuk 
   Doug Wilcox  
 
 

Staff:   S. Dalley, Town Manager/Clerk-Treasurer 
   C. Beaudoin, Deputy Clerk-Treasurer 

 
1. Call to Order: 

Mayor Adshead called the meeting to order at 3:10 p.m.  
 
2. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest and the General Nature Thereof 

None 
 
3. Adoption of Meeting Agenda 
 
 RESOLUTION No. 2025-187 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Ward 
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Hughes 
 

BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council approve the agenda of the Special Meeting dated November 25, 
2025 as presented. 

   

CARRIED 
 
4. Closed Session 

 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-188 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur  
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Anderson 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council convene in Closed Session as per Section 239 of the Municipal Act, 
 2001 as amended, in order to address a matter pertaining to subsection: 
 

 (2)(a) Security of the property of the municipality or local board. 
 (2)(b) Personal matter about an identifiable individual, including municipal or local board employees; 
 

CARRIED 
 

Mayor Adshead left the meeting during Closed Session and Deputy Mayor Anderson took over as chair 
 
  



2 
 

November 25, 2025 

5.  Business Arising from Closed Meeting 
 Direction was given to Staff on Closed Session matters.  
 
6.  Adjournment              
 

RESOLUTION No. 2025-189 
 MOVED BY:  Councillor Lafleur  
 SECONDED BY: Councillor Ward 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Special Meeting of Council be adjourned at 3:38 p.m. 
 
           CARRIED 
 
 
 
 
 
          ________________________ 
          Pat Anderson, Deputy Mayor 
 
 
 
          _________________________ 
          Steven Dalley, Clerk   





Township of Puslinch
7404 Wellington Road 34

Puslinch, ON N0B 2J0
www.puslinch.ca

November 28, 2025

RE: 6.17 Municipality of South Huron Council Resolution regarding Ontario Community
Infrastructure Fund & 6.18 Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal Council Resolution regarding
Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund

Please be advised that Township of Puslinch Council, at its meeting held on November 19, 2025
considered the aforementioned topic and subsequent to discussion, the following was resolved:

Resolution No. 2025-382: Moved by Councillor Hurst and
Seconded by Councillor Bailey

That the Consent Agenda item 6.17, 6.18 Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal Council
Resolution regarding Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund be received for
information; and

That the Township of Puslinch Council supports the Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal
September 29, 2025 Resolution and the Municipality of South Huron Resolution of
October 20, 2025 regarding Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund (OCIF); and

That this supporting resolution and originating correspondence be circulated to the
Premier, Leader of the Official Opposition, Minister of Infrastructure, Minister of

Hon. Doug Ford
Premier of Ontario
VIA EMAIL:
premier@ontario.ca

Marit Stiles, MPP
Leader of the Official
Opposition
VIA EMAIL:
mstiles-qp@ndp.on.ca

Hon. Kinga Surma
Minister of Infrastructure
VIA EMAIL:
kinga.surma@pc.ola.org

Hon. Rob Flack
Minister of Municipal Affairs
and Housing
VIA EMAIL:
rob.flack@pc.ola.org

http://www.puslinch.ca/
mailto:premier@ontario.ca
mailto:mstiles-qp@ndp.on.ca
mailto:kinga.surma@pc.ola.org
mailto:rob.flack@pc.ola.org


Municipal Affairs and Housing, Minister of Finance, MPP Racinsky, ROMA, AMO, FCM, all
Ontario municipalities.

CARRIED

As per the above resolution, please accept a copy of this correspondence for your information
and consideration.

Sincerely,

Justine Brotherston
Municipal Clerk

CC: Minister of Finance, MPP Racinsky, ROMA, AMO, FCM, all Ontario municipalities.



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
CORPORATION OF THE MUNICIPALITY OF SOUTH HURON 

322 Main Street South   P.O. Box 759    
Exeter Ontario    

 N0M 1S6 
Phone: 519-235-0310   Fax: 519-235-3304   

 Toll Free:  1-877-204-0747 
www.southhuron.ca 

 
 
October 23, 2025  
 
Via email: doug.fordco@pc.ola.org  
 
Premier’s Office 
Room 281 
Main Legislative Building, Queen’s Park  
Toronto, ON M7A 1A5 
 
Dear Hon. Doug Ford,   
 
Re: Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund  
 
Please be advised that South Huron Council passed the following resolution at 
their October 20, 2025, Regular Council Meeting: 
 
418-2025 
Moved By: Aaron Neeb 
Seconded by: Jim Dietrich 
 
That South Huron Council supports the Township of Edwardsburgh 
Cardinal September 29, 2025, Resolution regarding Ontario Community 
Infrastructure Fund (OCIF); and 
 
That this supporting resolution and originating correspondence be 
circulated to the Premier, Minister of Infrastructure, Minister of Municipal 
Affairs and Housing, Minister of Finance, MPP Thompson, AMO, OSUM, 
FCM, all Ontario municipalities.  
 
Result: Carried 
 
Please find attached the originating correspondence for your reference. 
 
Respectfully,  
 
 
Kendra Webster, Legislative & Licensing Coordinator 
Municipality of South Huron 
kwebster@southhuron.ca 
519-235-0310 x. 232 

mailto:doug.fordco@pc.ola.org
mailto:awolfe@southhuron.ca


 
Encl. 
cc:  Minister of Infrastructure Hon. Kinga Surma, kinga.surma@pc.ola.org;  

Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Hon. Rob Flack, 
rob.flack@pc.ola.org; Minister of Finance, Hon. Peter Bethlenfalvy, 
peter.bethlenfalvy@pc.ola.org; MPP Lisa Thompson, 
lisa.thompson@pc.ola.org; AMO, resolutions@amo.on.ca; OSUM, 
osum@osum.ca; FCM, resolutions@fcm.ca;  and all Ontario Municipalities  

 

mailto:kinga.surma@pc.ola.org
mailto:rob.flack@pc.ola.org
mailto:peter.bethlenfalvy@pc.ola.org
mailto:lisa.thompson@pc.ola.org
mailto:resolutions@amo.on.ca
mailto:osum@osum.ca
mailto:resolutions@fcm.ca


 

 

 

VIA EMAIL  

 

Tuesday, October 14, 2025  

The Honourable Doug Ford, Premier of Ontario  
The Honourable Kinga Surma, Minister of Infrastructure 
The Honourable Rob Flack, Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing  
The Honourable Francois-Phillipe Champagne, Minister of Finance 
Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) 
Ontario Small Urban Municipalities (OSUM) 
Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) 
The United Counites of Leeds and Grenville  
All Upper- and Lower-Tier Municipalities in Ontario  

 

 

Please be advised that at its Regular Council meeting held on Monday, September 29, 2025, 
the Council of the Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal unanimously adopted the following 
resolution: 

 

RESOLUTION: Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund (OCIF)   

 

WHEREAS the Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal acknowledges that municipal 
infrastructure—roads, bridges, water and wastewater systems—underpins public safety, 
economic vitality and quality of life in Ontario’s rural and small urban communities; 
  
WHEREAS the Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund (OCIF) was created in 2015 to assist 
small and rural municipalities facing infrastructure deficits that exceed their local revenue 
capacities; 
  



 

 

WHEREAS in 2022 the Government of Ontario committed to increase the annual OCIF 
envelope from $100 million to $400 million over a five-year term, with that commitment 
scheduled to expire at the end of fiscal 2026; 
  
WHEREAS fixed funding levels amid rising labour, materials and climate resilience costs 
have eroded the purchasing power of the $400 million envelope, jeopardizing municipalities’ 
ability to deliver and sustain essential services without incurring unsustainable debt; 
  
WHEREAS predictable, multi-year funding indexed to real-world cost drivers is critical for 
municipalities to develop, finance and execute long-term asset management plans, reduce 
emergency repairs and leverage complementary federal and private infrastructure financing; 
  
WHEREAS the Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal requires a steadfast provincial partner to 
extend and enhance OCIF beyond 2026, ensuring infrastructure resilience, fiscal 
sustainability and equitable access for all small and rural municipalities; 
  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT 
 

1. The Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal calls upon the Government of Ontario to 
extend the annual OCIF envelope at not less than $400 million beyond its current five-
year term ending in 2026, with no reductions in subsequent provincial budgets. 
 

2. The Province be requested to index the total annual OCIF envelope—and each 
individual municipal allocation—to the Ontario Consumer Price Index (CPI), calculated 
on a calendar-year basis and disbursed in the first quarter of each fiscal year. 

 
3. The Ministry of Infrastructure establish a new five-year OCIF funding framework that 

guarantees annual envelopes and allocation percentages by municipality, enabling 
long-term capital planning and stable cash-flow management. 

 
4. The Province undertake a formal review of the OCIF allocation formula at least once 

every four years, incorporating current municipal asset management data, 
demographic projections, climate resilience metrics and rural equity considerations. 

 
5. A dedicated contingency reserve equal to 5 percent of the annual OCIF envelope be 

created within the fund to address extraordinary cost escalations, emergency repairs 
or project overruns without reallocating core funding. 



 

 

6. The Ministry of Infrastructure publish an annual OCIF performance report—including 
program disbursements, allocation adjustments and reserve expenditures—in a 
transparent, publicly accessible online dashboard. 
 

7. The Clerk of the Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal forward this resolution to:  
 

o The Honourable Doug Ford, Premier of Ontario 
o The Honourable Kinga Surma, Minister of Infrastructure 
o The Honourable Rob Flack, Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing 
o The Honourable Francois-Phillipe Champagne, Minister of Finance  
o Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) 
o Ontario Small Urban Municipalities (OSUM) 
o Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) 
o The United Counties of Leeds and Grenville  
o All upper- and lower-tier municipalities in Ontario 

 
 

If you have any questions, please contact me at the email address below. 

  

Sincerely,  

 

Natalie Charette 
Interim Clerk 
clerk@twpec.ca 

 

  

 

 

mailto:clerk@twpec.ca


 

 

 
 









 

 
 
 

MINUTES 

Northeastern Public Health Board of Health 
Regular Meeting held on October 23, 2025 at 4:30 PM 

Microsoft Teams 
 
1.0 ROLL CALL 

Board of Health Members 
Michelle Boileau  City of Timmins  
Mark Wilson   Temiskaming Shores 

 Andrew Marks   City of Timmins 
 Jeff Laferriere    Temiskaming Shores 
 Carol Lowery   Rural South: Armstrong, Brethour, Casey, Cobalt, Coleman, 

Harley, Harris, Hilliard, Hudson, Kerns, Latchford, Temagami, 
Thornloe  

Paul Kelly   Rural Central South: Charlton & Dack, Chamberlain, Englehart, 
Evanturel, Gauthier, James, Larder Lake, McGarry, 
Matachewan 

Gary Fortin   Kapuskasing 
Marc Dupuis   Rural North: Fauquier-Strickland, Hornepayne, Hearst, Mattice 

Val Cote, Moonbeam, Opasatika, Val Rita Harty 
 Casey Owens   Kirkland Lake  

Peter Politis   Cochrane, Smooth Rock Falls   
 Savion Nakogee   Rural Far North: Moosonee, James Bay and Hudson Bay region 
 Cindy Marks-Campbell  Provincial Appointee 
 Todd Steis   Provincial Appointee 

David Lowe   Provincial Appointee  
 Tory Delaurier   Rural Central North: Iroquois Falls, Black River Matheson 
 Suzanne Perras   Provincial Appointee 

Curtis Arthur    Provincial Appointee 
 Rock Whissell   City of Timmins 
  
 Northeastern Staff Members 
 Dr. Lianne Catton  Medical Officer of Health/Chief Executive Officer 
 Randy Winters   Director of Corporate and Protection Services 
 Lori McCord   Executive Assistant 
  
 

Regrets    
Rosa Montico-Reimer  Director of Finance 

  
 



NEPH Board of Health – Regular Meeting – October 23, 2025                                                       Page 2 of 6  

  
1.1 CALL TO ORDER: Chair Boileau called the meeting to order at 4:31 pm. 

 
 

1.2 APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
MOTION #48-R-2025 
Moved by: Cindy Marks-Campbell  
Seconded by:  Carol Lowery 
That the agenda for the Board of Health meeting on October 23, 2025, be approved.  

    CARRIED 
 
 

1.3 DECLARATION OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND GENERAL NATURE  
   None declared. 
 

 
2.0 PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
2.1 NEPH BOARD OF HEALTH MINUTES – September 25, 2025 

MOTION #49-R-2025 
Moved by: David Lowe  
Seconded by:  Paul Kelly 
 That the Board of Health approve the minutes for the meeting dated September 25, 
2025. 

    CARRIED 
 

 
3.0 AGENDA ITEMS FOR INFORMATION, DISCUSSION, DECISION 

 
3.1 Q3 Risk Assessment 

Dr. Catton provided an overview of Risk Assessment Process and Management 
mitigation plan that identifies the high risks and is reported in the third quarter 
reporting to the Ministry.  

 
In 2025, the high risks that will be reported to the Ministry are Human Resources, 
Political, Information Technology (I.T), Financial and the Merger. These risks were 
reviewed in terms of current concerns, future considerations, and mitigation 
strategies in place and ongoing. 

 
MOTION #50-R-2025 
Moved by: Jeff Laferriere   
Seconded by:  Curt Arthur 
That the Board of Health approve the Risk Assessment and Management Report as 
presented.  

    CARRIED 
 



NEPH Board of Health – Regular Meeting – October 23, 2025                                                       Page 3 of 6  

 
 
 

 
3.2 Infrastructure Update 

Dr. Catton provided an update of the Pine St. Timmins HVAC system, the work 
completed to date and measures taken to reduce impacts on client and patient 
services and costs incurred to date. The timeline for expected completion has been 
extended into November due to some equipment delays.  
 

3.3 Financial Update 
Dr. Catton provided an update of Ministry of Health settlements to date for both 
legacy Temiskaming Health Unit and legacy Porcupine Health Unit. 
 

3.4 Northern Ontario Highway Safety 
As discussed at the September 25th meeting of the Board of Health, highway safety in 
Northern Ontario has been a long-standing concern for the Board, the Management 
team, and has often been flagged at local, regional, and provincial levels during local 
emergency responses. In support of the work FONOM has initiated, a resolution 
along with a briefing report outlining issues, impacts to public health, evidence, and 
key recommended interventions for the improved development of Northern 
highways was brought forward. The Board passed the highway safety resolution 
confirming the agreed amendments. The final to be shared with the briefing note and 
FONOM’s document.  
 
MOTION #51-R-2025 
Moved by: Andrew Marks   
Seconded by:  Jeff Laferriere 
Whereas highway safety is a critical public health issue in Northern Ontario, where 
long distances between communities, severe weather, heavy transport traffic, and 
wildlife hazards increase risks for residents, service providers, and emergency 
responders. Spanning more than 11,000 kilometres, Highways 11, 17, 101, and 144 
serve as lifelines, connecting Northeastern communities to the rest of the province 
(2). These routes are vital links in the Trans-Canada Highway system, providing 
essential access to health care, education, employment, and basic services (1,2); and,  
 
Whereas from 2018 to 2022, emergency department visits for motor vehicle 
collisions in the Northeastern Public Health (NEPH) region were consistently 1.6 to 2.0 
times higher than the Ontario average, highlighting both the region’s elevated 
collision risk and its heavy reliance on these critical corridors (8); and,  
 
Whereas the Northern region records the highest rate of large-truck collisions in 
Ontario - 94% higher than the next highest region and over three times higher than 
the lowest – as well as the highest fatality rate from motor vehicle collisions, 27.8% 
above the next highest region and 15.5 times higher than the lowest (7,8).; and, 
serious and fatal collisions along with prolonged road closures, hinder access to 



NEPH Board of Health – Regular Meeting – October 23, 2025                                                       Page 4 of 6  

goods and essential services, delay emergency response and jeopardize the well-
being and safety of Northern Ontarians, 
 
Whereas northern communities, including Indigenous and First Nation communities 
and Francophone populations (32.8% Francophone, 17.5% Indigenous), face 
significant barriers to health care that are intensified by highway closures, isolating 
residents from emergency care and essential services. These inequities are further 
exacerbated for First Nations and Indigenous peoples, rooted in historical trauma and 
reflected in ongoing disparities in access to care, essential services, and overall health 
outcomes (3,4,5).  Unsafe and unreliable highways deepen these inequities, threaten 
community well-being, and widen gaps in overall health and quality of life; and, 
 
Whereas limited access to primary care and medical specialists further compounds 
the challenge. In 2022–2023, more than 170,000 Northern Health Travel Grants were 
issued to assist 66,000 residents with travel and accommodation for medical needs, 
demonstrating the region’s dependence on long-distance highway travel for essential 
health care (6); and,  
 
Whereas each year, Northern Ontario roads experience increasing numbers of drivers 
and collisions, traveling on highways that are congested, outdated, and unsafe (1). 
Every day, more than 8,400 trucks transport over $200 million in goods across these 
same routes, which have limited passing lanes, inadequate shoulders, and numerous 
high-collision zones (10). Current highway designs lack sufficient median separation, 
safe passing lanes, and refuge zones, increasing the risk of head-on collisions and 
dangerous overtaking, especially under winter conditions; and,   
 
Whereas investing in safer Northern Ontario highways is a matter of health 
equity(10). Residents of Northern Ontario and First Nation communities deserve the 
same level of safety, accessibility and opportunity as those in southern regions, and 
the continued loss of life on unsafe roads is unacceptable (9, 10). 
 
Whereas FONOM and Northern municipalities propose the 2+1 upgrade on Highways 
11 and 17, including North Bay to Cochrane and Renfrew to Sudbury in Phase 1, and 
Cochrane to Nipigon, Thunder Bay to Kenora, and Sault Ste. Marie to Sudbury in 
Phase 2  recognizing this alternating passing lane design with a crash-rated median 
barrier is proven, safe and cost-effective fit for Northern Ontario, and reducing 
crashes by up to 55% (10);  
 
Now therefore be it resolved that the Board of Health for the Northeastern Health 
Unit calls upon the Government of Ontario to prioritize highway safety and equity 
across Northern Ontario by: 
Committing to the full, phased implementation of the 2+1 highway model along 
Highways 11, 144 and 17 as a priority investment in safety and health equity 
Collaborating with northern Municipalities, First Nation communities and urban First 
Nation, Inuit and Metis partners to ensure infrastructure planning incorporates 
health, safety and equity considerations.  



NEPH Board of Health – Regular Meeting – October 23, 2025                                                       Page 5 of 6  

Designating high-collision and high-risk zones for safety upgrades, with priority for 
sections that affect emergency response, health-care access, and the delivery of 
essential goods and services.  

    CARRIED 
 

3.5 alPHa Fall Conference Attendance 
Information around alPHa’s Fall Symposium was previously shared with Board 
members with a request to advise of their interest in attending. 
 
MOTION #52-R-2025 
Moved by: David Lowe 
Seconded by:  Rock Whissell 
That the Board of Health approve Board Member Sue Perras to attend the alPHa Fall 
Symposium.  

    CARRIED 
 

4.0 MEDICAL OFFICER OF HEALTH/CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 
Dr. Catton provided an update on the organization and shared recent highlights of services 
and programs. The enclosed presentation summarizes the main points shared for 
 information purposes. Chair Boileau thanked Dr. Catton for her report. 
 

 
5.0 CLOSED SESSION 

There were no items for discussion. 
 

6.0 CORRESPONDENCE 
The correspondence was received for information purposes. Board Member Marks 
highlighted the memorandum advising of the launch of NEPH’s new telephone system as well 
as the soft launch of NEPH’s official logo and branding. Dr. Catton advised that the official 
branding launch is planned to align with the health unit’s first anniversary in January 2026.  

 
7.0 DATES OF NEXT MEETING 

Next meeting of the Board of Health to be held on November 27, 2025 at 4:00 p.m. 
 

 
8.0. DATES OF NEXT MEETING 

Next meeting of the Board of Health to be held on November 27, 2025 at 4:00 pm. 
 
9.0 ADJOURNMENT 

MOTION #53-R-2025 
Moved by: Andrew Marks 
Seconded by:  Cindy Marks-Campbell 
That the next meeting of the Board of Health be held November 27, 2025 at 4:00 p.m. and 
that this meeting be adjourned at 5:16 p.m. 

 
CARRIED 



NEPH Board of Health – Regular Meeting – October 23, 2025                                                       Page 6 of 6  

 
 

   Michelle Boileau, Board Chair     
   Lori McCord, Recorder 

November 27, 2025



3rd Quarter REPORT
District of Timiskaming Social Services Administration BoardDistrict of Timiskaming Social Services Administration Board
Quarter 3 - julY 1 - September 30th, 2025Quarter 3 - julY 1 - September 30th, 2025

Support.  Delivery.  Commitment.

Accessible versions of this document are 
available upon request. Ce document est 
disponible en français sur demande.

Visit us online!



Serving the 
District of 

Timiskaming

Serving 23 municipalities and territories 
without municipal organization.
Supporting individuals in need throughout our communities.

Delivering programs and services, through effective use of available resources, in the 
best interest of the individuals we support. 

We are committed to serving the individuals we support and treating each other 
through actions and values based on integrity and respect.



`

3

To our Stakeholders					     3
Housing Services						      6
Paramedic Services					     10
Early Years and Child Care				    14
Ontario Works						      18
Human Resources 						     20

TABLE OF 
CONTENTS

Accessible versions of this document are 
available upon request. Ce document est 
disponible en français sur demande.



View more reports 
and data

www.dtssab.com

Support
Supporting individuals 
in need throughout 
our communities.



to our stakeholders
It is my pleasure to present the District of Timiskaming Social Services Administration Board’s 
Quarter 3 Report for 2025. This report highlights our continued efforts to deliver programs and 
services that strengthen communities across the District of Timiskaming from June 1 to August 30, 
2025. 

Across all departments, DTSSAB continues to demonstrate resilience, adaptability, and innovation 
in the face of evolving community needs and service delivery challenges. 

Housing Services continued to manage growing demand, with 123 new applications received 
this quarter. Important capital projects were completed, including garden door replacements at 
Pollock Family Units and elevator modernization projects at 60 Fifth Street, 25 Tweedsmuir, and 
New Liskeard Non-Profit Housing—enhancing accessibility and safety for residents. 

Paramedic Services reached several milestones this quarter. Two new ambulances were 
received and placed into service, reflecting the department’s ongoing fleet replacement plan 
and the recent rebranding to DTSSAB Paramedic Services. Members of the leadership team 
also participated in the provincial Medical Priority Dispatch System (MPDS) Kick-Off meeting, 
supporting preparations for the 2026 North Bay CACC implementation, which will strengthen 
accuracy and efficiency in dispatching. Additionally, senior leaders attended the Ontario 
Association of Paramedic Chiefs Fall Symposium, gaining insights into sector innovations, 
leadership development, and emerging technologies. The Community Paramedicine program 
continues to evolve, expanding into phlebotomy and wound care, and supporting our local 
community partners under the medical oversight of Medical Director, Dr. Don Davies. 

Children’s Services advanced several key initiatives under the Canada-Wide Early Learning 
and Child Care (CWELCC) system and cost-based funding model. The Inclusion Support Team 
continued to support licensed childcare programs through mentoring and hands-on inclusion 
practices, while over 150 early childhood professionals attended the Annual Professional Learning 
Event. The team’s work continues to promote inclusive, high-quality, and developmentally 
responsive early learning environments. 

Ontario Works maintained strong client service delivery, managing 171 new applications and 
ensuring uninterrupted assistance during postal negotiations. DTSSAB staff also participated 
in the Northeastern Network Conference to evaluate progress under the province’s Integrated 
Employment Services model, aligning local delivery with broader regional objectives. 

Human Resources focused on the launch of non-union job evaluations to ensure equity and 
consistency across roles. In addition, a comprehensive group benefits market survey was 
completed, confirming renewal with existing carriers while identifying opportunities for future 
cost efficiencies. Progress also continued in areas of workplace culture development, attendance 
support, and violence risk assessment updates. 

As always, our success reflects the commitment of our staff, the trust of our communities, and 
the collaboration of our partners across municipal, provincial, and community sectors. Together, 
we continue to strengthen our programs and ensure responsive, accessible, and compassionate 
service delivery for all residents of the District of Timiskaming.



2025 Application Breakdown to Date

Seniors Adults Youth (16-19) Families

Demographics of Tenant Base

Seniors Adults Youth (16-19) Families
6

Centralized Waiting List

Unit Vacancy

123
New 

Applications in 
Q3

20
Move Outs

22
Move Ins

Over the duration of Q3, there were 123 new applications, of which 46 were online and 77 were 
completed on paper. The online application process has been available through the service 
RentCafe, for four years. 

Vacancies vary from month to month and are 
difficult to predict. In the 3rd Quarter of 2025, 
the Housing Services Program saw a total of 20 
Move outs and 22 Move ins. 
The objective is to have a unit ready for a 
move in within 30 days of vacating by prior 
tenant. However, due to the condition of the 
unit, an increase in unit turnover, and supply 
chain issues, this 30 day window is not always 
feasible.

di
st

ri
ct

 o
f t

im
is

ka
mi

ng
 so

ci
al

 se
rv

ic
es

 a
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

bo
ar

d 
- 

ho
us

in
g s

er
vi

ce
s

housing services

Breakdown of Types of Housing Units

RGI Market Affordable



7

2025 Capital Projects

Garden Door Replacement Project - Pollock 
Family Units

To improve security and energy efficiency, the 
Pollock units benefited from the installation 
of new garden doors - replacing the original 
construction doors from the 1980’s. This project 
was undertaken in two phases and has now 
been completed this quarter. 

Elevator - 60 Fifth Street

As elevator cars age within our housing 
stock, there is a resulting cost in upkeep and 
repairs. Utilizing funds from the Canada-
Ontario Community Housing Initiative (COCHI), 
the Modernized Elevator Project has been 
completed at senior-designated building, 60 
Fifth Street. Elevator replacements have also 
been made at 25 Tweedsmuir and funds were 
also provided to New Liskeard Non-Profit 
Housing to complete an uprade to their elevator. 
A portion of the 2025-26 COCHI funding has 
been allotted for the 25 A Tweedsmuir building 
elevator. Reliable and safe elevator access 
is paramount in large buildings to increase 
accessibility. 

Updated Flooring and Cupboards

These updates are difficult to complete while a 
tenant resides in the unit. Therefore accordingly 
they are often completed when a tenant moves 

Learn more: www.dtssab.com

out. Allowances are provided for in the Capital 
Budget to complete these renovations, allowing 
for an improved balance between operational and 
capital costs. 

Breakdown of Types of Housing Units

RGI Market Affordable



Housing 
Services

By Names List

COCHI funding is allotted to repair and regenerate existing community 
housing stock. The OPHI funding provides support to individuals in 
the district through two components - Rent Supplements and Ontario 
Renovates.

Canada- Ontario Community Housing Initiative (COCHI) &
Ontario Priorities Housing Initiative (OPHI) 2025-26

4- Year Trend, Applications Through to Third Quarter

Program Name Abbrevviation/
Funding Stream 2025-26 Allotment

Ontario Community Housing 
Initiatives COCHI $579,800

Ontario Renovates OPHI $159,900

Rent Supplement OPHI $12,000

Canada-Ontario Housing COHB $68,000

* COHB benefits 15 new households

Since the completion of the Enumeration Count in 2021 – there has been 
a total of 327 individuals on BNL for the Timiskaming District. 

20
Individuals on By-

Name List

327
Individuals on List 

since 2021

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

2022

2023

2024

2025



9

Early learning school 
readiness program



10

Training and Networking

911 Dispatch Calls in Q2 2025

945
Emergent
Priority 4

405
Urgent

Priority 3

29
Non-Urgent

Priority 1 & 2

355
Stand-By

During the quarter, two senior leaders 
from DTSSAB Paramedic Services attended 
the Ontario Association of Paramedic 
Chiefs (OAPC) Fall Symposium and Annual 
General Meeting—held September 22–25, 
2025, in London. 
 
 
Key agenda items included: 
 
Workshops on logistics and wellness in 
paramedic services. Sessions addressing 
emerging technologies, notably artificial 
intelligence in paramedicine, and 
leveraging data 
 

di
st

ri
ct

 o
f t

im
is

ka
mi

ng
 so

ci
al

 se
rv

ic
es

 a
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

bo
ar

d 
- 

pa
ra

me
di

c s
er

vi
ce

s
Paramedic Services

 
Networking with industry partners and 
exhibitors to share innovations in deployment, 
data-analytics and community integration.  
 
Attendance at this symposium reinforces our 
commitment to staying current with provincial 
best-practices, evolving regulatory and 
operational environments, and innovation 
in paramedic services delivery. By staying 
engaged in the sector and bringing insights 
back from provincial forums, we ensure our 
service continues to evolve and improve for the  
benefit of the district.

When an individual calls 911 and requires an ambulance, the Central Ambulance 
Communications Center, located in North Bay, prioritizes the call based on Ministry of Health 
Guidelines. They are prioritized  by Priority or Emergent, Urgent, Non-Urgent and Stand-By.

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

1000

Emergent Urgent Non-Urgent Stand-by

2025 Call Volumes

Q1 Q2 Q3



11

Paramedic Services - Fleet Update

Medical Priority Dispatch System (MPDS)

During this quarter, DTSSAB Paramedic 
Services received two new ambulances as part 
of its ongoing fleet replacement plan. These 
units have been rebranded under the new 
program title, “Paramedic Services,” reflecting 
the department’s recent transition from 
“Emergency Medical Services” to align with 
modernization efforts across Ontario. 
 
The new ambulances support the continued 
delivery of high-quality emergency and 
community-based care throughout the District. 

The Province of Ontario is advancing its plan 
to modernize ambulance dispatching through 
the Medical Priority Dispatch System (MPDS)—a 
standardized framework designed to enhance 
accuracy in call prioritization and resource 
deployment. This system aims to ensure that 
“the right crew is sent to the right place at the 
right time.” 
 
The North Bay Central Ambulance 
Communications Centre (CACC), which 
dispatches calls for the District of Timiskaming, 
is scheduled to go live with MPDS in June 2026. 
Preparatory work is well underway across the 
region to support this transition. 

Learn more: www.dtssab.com

Paramedic Services operates under a fleet 
replacement plan designed to ensure reliability 
and operational efficiency. 
 
Across Canada, the cost and delivery timelines 
for ambulances have significantly increased 
due to ongoing supply chain challenges; in 
some cases, delivery can take up to two years. 
Despite these challenges, DTSSAB Paramedic 
Services continues to plan strategically to 
maintain service levels and sustain its vehicle 
replacement schedule.

 
During Q3, members of the Paramedic 
Services Leadership Team attended the 
provincial MPDS Kick-Off meeting, which 
outlined implementation timelines, training 
expectations, and coordination requirements 
between communication centres and local 
paramedic services. 
 
DTSSAB Paramedic Services continues to 
actively engage in the planning process to 
ensure a smooth transition and readiness for 
this important provincial initiative, which will 
contribute to improved response accuracy and 
patient outcomes across the District.



`̀ Accessible, 
responsive, 
proactive and 
safe.

Community Paramedicine 

is a forward-thinking 

model of healthcare 

services delivered by 

paramedics in non-

emergency settings. This 

approach utilizes their 

expertise to support 

high-risk and vulnerable 

individuals, aiming 

to reduce 911 calls, 

emergency room visits, 

and hospitalizations.

Clients Served at Wellness Clinics

Total Number of Active Clients

Walk-In/Wellness Clinic Interaction

Clients on Waitlist

Home Visits in Q2

Virtual Visits

Any visits that were provided in-person

Phone or video calls, teleconference, 
telemedicine, general interactions with 
Healthcare Partners

Approximately 2 week wait until first 
interaction

Community Paramedicine

105

414

168

8

976

215



13

Program Development

Q3 of 2025 involved a number of developments 
for the Community Paramedicine Program. A key 
highlight being the onboarding of a new Medical 
Director, Dr. Don Davies, who brings extensive 
expertise in geriatric care and a deep understanding 
of our local community. His addition marks a 
significant advancement for the program. He is 
highly engaged, meeting regularly with staff and 
actively working to build strong relationships with 
the Community Paramedics to ensure we continue 

delivering the highest standard of care to our 
clients.
Looking forward, the Community Paramedicine is 
preparing for the launch of IV initiation in the field, 
supporting community partners with antibiotic 
administration and MAiD (Medical Assistance in 
Dying) procedures in home, home blood draws, and 
vaccination readiness for homebound clients within 
the community.

The Community Paramedicine Program continues 
to support community partners. This includes 
collaboration with Seamless MD to support 
Temiskaming residents post hip or knee surgery, 
facilitating safe transitions back home, post 
operation. 

The program also continues to partner with the 
North Eastern Public Health Unit and Ontario Health 
at Home, ensuring that homebound and vulnerable 
clients receive vaccinations, which are a critical 
component of preventative care. 

Staff Training and Development
As part of the continued commitment to excellence, 
all Community Paramedics took part in training for 
Wound Care and Phlebotomy. This is in addition to 
ongoing monthly Clinical Development Days that 

take place with Medical Director, Dr. Don Davies to 
ensure maintenance of compliance and upholding 
of clinical standards. 

Wellness Clinics continue to be held monthly 
across the district, supporting proactive care and 
community engagement. Attendance numbers have 
steadily increased, reflecting the growing demand 
for these services. The clinics have been very well 
received by residents in the serviced buildings, with 
many expressing appreciation for the convenient 
access to preventative care and the ongoing 
presence of the Community Paramedicine team.

Wellness Clinics

Community Partnerships

21
Wellness Clinics 

Held in Q3



Age July August September

Centre Based Care

Infant 35 38 44

Toddler 93 89 100

Preschool 200 198 174

JK/SK 151 151 172

Home Based Care

Infant 10 11 13

Toddler 12 6 8

Preschool 13 22 18

JK/SK 0 7 9

Q3 Total 514 522 538

14

di
st

ri
ct

 o
f t

im
is

ka
mi

ng
 so

ci
al

 se
rv

ic
es

 a
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

bo
ar

d 
- 

EA
RL

Y Y
EA

RS
 A

ND
 CH

ILD
 CA

RE

Early Years and CHild Care
Starting January 1, 2025, the province 
introduced a new funding approach. 
Cost-based funding provides support for 
operating costs for licensees participating 
in CWELCC for the delivery of child care to 
CWELCC-eligible children.  Starting in 2025, 
child care providers are funded based on 
eligible costs incurred in the calendar year in 

respect of eligible child care centre, up to a 
maximum amount of funding determined by 
the formula.
This funding focuses on aligning service 
delivery with provincial standards through 
effective business practices, financial 
accountability, and robust service system 
management.

Ontario’s vision is reaching an average base 
fee of $10/day by March 31, 2026, for licensed 
child care spaces.  
Ontario took the phased approach to 
implementing CWELCC, with an initial focus 
on the immediate objectives for families 
and system stability, before moving on to 
addressing the objectives of increasing 
accessibility and inclusion over the long 
term.

First the province introduced a 25% average 
base fee reduction in 2022, increased to a 
50% reduction (based on 2020 levels) for 
licensed child care starting on December 32, 
2022, and a base fee cap of $22 a day as of 
January 1, 2025.In August 2024 the Ontario 
government announce a cap on daycare 
fees for children 0-5 years of age to $22/day 
starting January 1, 2025.  

Cost-Based Funding for Child Care Providers

Canada Wide Early Learning Child Care (CWELCC)



15

  

“The Inclusion Support Worker helped us feel supported and capable. The 
strategies they shared made a real difference—not just for one child, but 
for the whole program.”

— Early Childhood Educator, Licensed Child Care Program

After six months of implementing our new SNR model, we 
are happy to update the DTSSAB Board on the successful 
launch of the Inclusion Support Team, a new directly 
operated special needs resourcing (SNR) program under 
the Children’s Services team in the District of Timiskaming. 
This initiative replaces the previously contracted model 
and reflects a strategic shift to a more integrated, capacity-
building approach that enhances inclusive practices across 
all early years settings.

The Inclusion Support Team consists of four (two bilingual) 
Inclusion Support Workers who provide consultation and 
hands-on support to:
•	 Licensed childcare programs
•	 Licensed home childcare providers
•	 EarlyON / ONyva Child and Family Centres
This district-wide support model is aligned with the 
principles of Ontario’s early years pedagogy (How Does 
Learning Happen?) and focuses not only on direct support 
for children with special needs but also on building the 
capacity of educators to create inclusive, welcoming, and 
developmentally appropriate learning environments for all 
children.

The Inclusion Support Team is already having a meaningful 
and measurable impact across the district. Highlights of 
current activities include:
•	 Supporting the development of individualized support 

plans for children, in collaboration with educators and 
families.

•	 Providing on-site mentorship and modelling inclusive 
practices within early years settings.

•	 Coordinating professional learning opportunities for 
educators focused on inclusive program design and 
responsive strategies.

•	 Facilitating the effective use of the Resource Library, 
which is now actively supporting programs across the 
district.

The team is also actively engaged in collaborating with 
community agencies and service providers who work with 
children and families in Timiskaming. These partnerships 
help ensure continuity of care and minimize service 
gaps, especially during transitions between early years 
programs, home, and school settings. Joint planning and 
shared communication with agencies support a more 
coordinated and responsive service system.

The Family Discount is a reduction in child care fees 
offered to families who have more than one child enrolled 
in the same child care centre.  This benefits families by 
easing financial pressures and helps strengthen child care 
program stability as families with multiple children are 
most likely to stay long-term.  

In Q3, $72,770 was provided in discounts for families with 
more than one child.

Special Needs Resourcing (SNR)

Family Discount



The Wage Enhancement Grant is 
provincial funding that provides 
additional dollars to licensed child 
care centres in order to increase 
wages for eligible staff.  
The goals include closing the wage 
gap between Early Childhood 
Educators (RECEs) in the education 
system (e.g., kindergarten) and 
those in licensed child care sector.  
Stabilizing licensed child care 
providers by making it easier to 
retain qualified staff, and supporting 
higher-quality, stable child care 
services for children.
Eligible child care centre staff are 

supported with a $2.00 per hour, 
plus a benefit component of 17.5% 
of the increase for staff whose base 
wage falls below a certain “wage 
cap”.

Workforce compensation is for child 
care centre staff who are registered 
early childhood educators (RECEs) 
working in licensed child care centres 
enrolled in the Canada-Wide Early 
Learning and Child Care (CWELCC) 
system, the wage floor is $24.86 for 
2025, it is planned to increase to 
$25.86 in 2026.

Children’s 
Services

Wage Enhancement Grant  andand Workforce Compensation

The Ministry of Education provides 
funding to support professional 
development initiatives aimed 
at enhancing the recruitment 
and retention of the Registered 
Early Childhood Educator (RECE) 
workforce and other program staff.  
This funding facilitates professional 
learning opportunities designed to 
strengthen the capacity of the early 
years and child care sector to deliver 
high-quality programs in alignment 
with “How Does Learning Happen? 
Ontario’s Pedagogy for the Early 
Years.
Timiskaming’s Early Years 
Workforce’s Professional Learning 
event took place on September 19, 
2025, and was attended by over 
150 early childhood education 
professionals.  Participants engaged 
in a variety of sessions throughout 
the day. 

•	 Our Inclusion Support Team 
provided some hands-on 
learning focuses on positive 
engagement and approaches 
to rethinking challenging 

behaviours.
•	 Kristine Zwolak a registered 

psychotherapist focused on 
metal health in young children, 
with an emphasis on co-
regulation and what it looks like 
in practice.  Educators gained 
a deeper understanding of the 
topic, along with helpful topics 
and strategies they can use.

•	 Angelina Mighty Osborne a 
dynamic leader with over 13 
years in the non-profit sector 
dedicated to social impact 
and community employment 
introduced one of the core 
guiding principles of learn 
through Active Play.  Educators 
explored practical strategies to 
embed active play into everyday 
routines and environments.

•	 Natalie Tobler and Waba Mahigan 
Ikwe had the educators join them 
around a fire for a Smudge and 
cultural indigenous teachings.  
Also, in attendance was Amy 
McGrath, the creator of Cardinal 
Creations who provided crafting 
ideas with the attendees.

2nd Annual 2025 All-Day Professional Leaning Event

Wage $37,075.11

Workforce Compensation $ 3,371.16



17

EarlyON Child and Family Centres offer free, high-
quality programs for families and children from 
0 to 6 years old.  Children can learn and play with 
their parents/caregivers, meet people and get 
advice from early childhood professionals. 
EarlyON Centres are open to all families in 
Timiskaming. They’re welcoming places that offer 
a range of services and resources, where you can:
•	 join fun activities such as reading, storytelling, 

sing-alongs and games
•	 get advice from professionals trained in early 

childhood development
•	 find out about other family services in your 

community
•	 connect with other families with young 

children
These services are available at any EarlyON Centre 

in Timiskaming. Many centres are open weekdays, 
evenings and weekends to fit the needs of families 
in their communities and they offer both in person 
and virtual programs.
Program calendars are planned monthly. To visit 
an EarlyON Centre in our district, parents can 
visit KEyON.ca.

EarlyON - On y va

Learn more: www.dtssab.com

Type of Visit Total Number

Child 0-6 1727

Child 7+ 222

Parent/Caregiver 1271

Child 0-6 Indigenous 46

Child 7+ Indigenous 34

Parent/Caregiver Indigenous 47



`̀ Providing life 
stabilization and 
Employment Support

The Ontario Works 

program continues 

to support clients in 

achieving life stabilization 

and employment 

through the provision of 

financial assistance and 

coordinated wraparound 

services in partnership 

with community 

organizations. 

Cases Referred to ODSP

New Applications Submitted

Emergency Assistance Applications

Cases Closed

Cases Exited Due to Employment 
Earnings

Average Monthly Employment 
Earnings

Change of -19 from Q2 

Change of +17 from Q2 

Change of  +$19.34 from Q2 

Change of +27 from Q2 

Change of +11 from Q2

Change of +29 from Q2

ontario works

47

171

25

159

37

$772.67



19

Learn More About Ontario 
Works and how to apply on 

our website.

www.dtssab.com

Delivery of Ontario Works 

Update of Integrated Employment Services (IES)

In September 2025, the Ontario Works program implemented a 
contingency plan to ensure the uninterrupted delivery of Ontario Works 
payments and benefits. This action was taken in response to ongoing 
labour negotiations between the Canadian Union of Postal Workers 
(CUPW) and their employer.

Ongoing collaboration with community partners 
continues to strengthen wrap-around supports for 
clients experiencing high barriers. Meetings were held 
with local outreach programs to facilitate information 
sharing, refine referral processes, and coordinate 
ongoing case conferencing. These efforts aim to 
ensure clients receive comprehensive and continuous 
support.

As of September 11, 2025, support staff across 
Ontario Colleges commenced strike action. This 
included employees at Collège Boréal and a 
significant number of Employment Ontario service 
providers within our regional network.  During this 
period, the Service System Manager (SSM) remained 
focused on ensuring that essential client services 
continued to deliver a stable, timely, and reliable 
client services. To uphold this commitment, the SSM 
needed to temporarily reallocate resources and 
adjust priorities. 

On September 16, 2025, Collège Boréal, in its role 
as Service System Manager (SSM), hosted a two-day 
Northeastern Network Conference to review key 
milestones and achievements since the launch of 
Integrated Employment Services (IES) on March 3, 
2025. 

The conference provided an important forum 
for knowledge sharing, progress evaluation, and 
alignment on strategic priorities. Discussions 
focused on strengthening service delivery, enhancing 
collaboration among network partners, and 
identifying opportunities for continued improvement. 
The event concluded with the establishment of 
next steps and forward-looking strategies to guide 
ongoing implementation and ensure the continued 
success of the IES model across the Northeastern 
region.



20

This quarter’s HR activities have been largely focused on 
confidential matters.  As such, Q3 updates are limited.  The 
HR team is committed to reassuring the Board that all 
sensitive information is handled responsibly and accessed 
only on a need-to-know basis. 

Group benefits are provided to all full-
time DTSSAB employees. Currently, 
extended health care, prescription 
drug and dental care benefits are 
adjudicated as an ASO (Administrative 
Services Only) plan, with Claim Secure 
as the carrier.  Long-Term Disability 
(LTD) and life benefits are managed 
by Canada Life. AIG is the adjudicator 
for accidental benefits (AD&D), 
including emergency out-of-province 
medical care benefits.  GreenShield+ 
administers the Employee and Family 
Assistance Program (EFAP).  Gallagher 
Benefits Services Group is the 
DTSSAB’s benefit broker. 

Recently, Gallagher conducted 
a market survey and requested 
proposals from separate insurers. 
Market reviews are generally 
conducted every 5 years.  Several 
insurers declined to quote, including 
BlueCross, Empire Life, Equitable Life 
and Sun Life. This was primarily due 
to the risk of high claims and potential 
liabilities associated with LTD, given 
the Paramedic Services industry.  Four 
carriers provided competitive quotes, 
including: Desjardins, Industrial 

Alliance, Manulife and Greenshield/
Wawanesa.

In addition to financial impacts, there 
were benefits and disadvantages 
to consider for each bidding carrier, 
including factors such as deviations 
to DTSSAB’s current plan design, 
rate guarantees, servicing models, 
platform capabilities, ease of 
transition, ongoing client support, etc.

Upon reviewing the details of the 
proposals, DTSSAB has confirmed that 
benefits will renew with Claim Secure, 
Canada Life, AIG and GreenShield+ at 
this time.

Gallagher is currently in the process 
of contracting with new providers to 
add to their register of Third-Party 
Administration (TPA) health and 
dental providers. They will continue to 
monitor possibilities for cost savings 
and will communicate potential new 
offerings and different rate options for 
the future.

WSIB Excellence Plan submissions, 
policy and process updates relating 
to the Violence Risk Assessment 
(VRA), attendance support policy and 

process updates, as well as culture 
work related to Paramedic Services 
continue at this time and will be 
ongoing into Q4.

DTSSAB Group Benefits – Market Survey Update 

Continued Progress - Q2 Initiatives

Human Resources 



21

With the guidance of DTSSAB’s external job 
evaluation/pay equity advisor, the process of 
conducting job evaluations of all non-union 
positions commenced in September.  It has 
been nearly five years since the last review.  Job 
evaluation ensures consistency and transparency 
with respect to positions being situated within the 
DTSSAB’s salary grid.  
Job evaluation is a process used to compare roles 
based generally on skill, effort, responsibility 

and working conditions, using a gender-neutral 
comparison system.  This process also ensures 
that pay equity, or equal pay for jobs of equal 
value, has been maintained between similar 
value male-dominated job classes and female-
dominated job classes.
CUPE’s annual job evaluation/pay equity 
maintenance process is scheduled for the end 
of November 2025.  This process utilizes SEIU’s 
Paramedic role as an internal male comparator.

Non-Union Job Evaluations

    Position Recruitment 
Status Details & Comments

Paramedic Services 
Paramedic Full-Time - North Base 
(permanent x1)

Filled 
Internally Vacancy due to extended absence

Paramedic Services
Paramedic Full-Time  - South Base 
(temporary x1)

Filled 
Internally

Vacancy due to incumbent in temporary 
position outside the bargaining unit

Paramedic Services
Paramedic Full-Time - Central Base 
(temporary x1)

Filled 
Internally Vacancy due to extended absence

Paramedic Services
Paramedic Part-Time base specific - 
North Base (temporary x1)

Filled 
Internally Vacancy due to internal movement

Paramedic Services
Paramedic Part-Time District Float 
(permanent x 3)

Filled 
Externally

Staffing required due to internal movement 
and staffing demands







 

 

 
 

THE CORPORATION OF THE 
TOWN OF COBALT 

 

BY-LAW NO. 2025-38 
 

 

Being a By-Law Respecting Construction, Demolition, and Change of Use Permits  
and Inspections 

 

 
WHEREAS Section 391 (1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended, authorizes a municipality to 
impose fees or charges on persons for services or activities provided or done by or on behalf of it.  
 
AND WHEREAS under the Building Code Act Section 7(1) allows the Council of a municipality to 
pass require the payment of fees for the issuance of permits; 
 
AND WHEREAS under the Building Code Act Section 7(2) the total amount of the fees authorized 
under clause (1) must not exceed the anticipated reasonable costs of the principal authority to 
administer and enforce this Act in its Area of jurisdiction.  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Cobalt 
hereby enacts as follows: 
 
1. THAT the Building Permit Fees charged be outlined as Schedule “A”; 
 
2. THAT the Clerk is hereby authorized to make minor modifications or corrections of a 

grammatical or typographical nature to the By-Law and Schedule after passage of this By-
Law where such modifications or corrections do not alter the intent of the By-Law; 

 
3. THAT this By-Law comes into force and effect on January 1, 2026; 
 
4.  THAT all other By-Laws and resolutions, or parts thereto, contrary hereto, or inconsistent 

herewith, be and the same are hereby repealed. 
 
TAKEN AS READ a first, second and third time and passed this 9th day of December, 2025. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the said By-Law be signed and sealed by the Mayor and Clerk.   
 

 
      

    Pat Anderson, Deputy Mayor 
 
 
 

      
Steven Dalley, Clerk 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 

SCHEDULE “A” TO BY-LAW NO. 2025-38 

 

To Adopt the Timiskaming District Joint Compliance Audit Committee  

Terms of Reference 

 

 

 

  



 

 

BUILDING PERMIT FEES 
 

The fees payable by the applicant for a construction, demolition, change of use of 
conditional permit or inspection fees shall be as follows: 
 
Permit fees shall be $9.25 per thousand based on a value of contract price. If there is no 
contract price in a written agreement, the permit fee will be calculated by Building 
Department as follows: 
 
Deposit: $90 per application 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Fee Code Residential

RA Residential (single family dwelling including prefabricated homes) 1.30$      per sq ft

RB Seasonal Building no interior finish (insulation, sheeting, etc.) 0.80$      per sq ft

RC Garage / Cold Storage 0.65$      per sq ft

RD Deck / Balcony 0.50$      per sq ft

RE Interior Renovations (plumbing, other structural change) 160.00$  fixed

RF New foundations 260.00$  fixed

RG Foundation repairs 105.00$  fixed

RH New roof Entire Roof (structural changes) 235.00$  fixed

RI Minor Structural Repair/Change 105.00$  fixed

RJ New door / window (structural changes) 90.00$    fixed

RK Fire alarm system 105.00$  fixed

RL Wood Fired Appliance 90.00$    fixed

RM Rooftop Solar 210.00$  fixed

RN Demolition 90.00$    fixed

 2026 Municipal Fee 

Fee Code Commercial/Industrial/Assembly/Institutional

CA Commercial/Industrial/Assembly/Institutional 2.35$      per sq ft

CB Commercial/Industrial/Assembly/Institutional-Cold Storage 0.80$      per sq ft

CC New Doors or Windows (structural changes) 160.00$  fixed

CD Interior Alteration (plumbing, other structural change) 260.00$  fixed

CE New Roof (Structural Change) 390.00$  fixed

CF Minor Structural Repair/Change 160.00$  fixed

CG Fire Alarm System 210.00$  fixed

CH Rooftop Solar 365.00$  fixed

CI Bunkhouse/work camp/trailer (minimum of $1000) 1.60$      per sq ft

CJ Demolition (Building over 600 m2 or over 3 storeys (Div. 1.2.2.3(1))) 160.00$  fixed

CK Demolition other than above 90.00$    fixed

 2026 Municipal Fee 



 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

FEE NOTES: 
 

• There shall be an administration charge equal to one and a half times the above 
calculated fees, applied to all construction that begins prior to the issuance of a 
permit. 
 

• Fees will be rounded to the nearest dollar.  
 

• Conditional and partial permits will be calculated at the regular rate for the complete 
project. 

 

• No permit shall be less than $90.00 minimum. 
 
  

Fee Code Farm

FA Farm Building / addition 0.80$      per sq ft

FB Prefabricated Storage Silos 190.00$  fixed

FC Bunkhouse/work camp/trailer (minimum of $1000) 1.60$      per sq ft

FD Demolition 90.00$    fixed

 2026 Municipal Fee 

Fee Code Other Building Fees

OA Change of use permit 90.00$    fixed

OB Change of use if construction is required 90.00$    + fee

OC Moving permit (Relocation of structure over 108 ft2 to or from a property) 160.00$  fixed

OD Signs 90.00$    each

 2026 Municipal Fee 

Fee Code General Fees (HST Applies)

GA Permit - File maintenance fee (Dormant 12mths +) 90.00$    fixed

GB Inspection request by owner 90.00$    each

GC Revisions to permit already issued 90.00$    fixed

GD Other Services 90.00$    per hour

GE Orders 210.00$  fixed

 2026 Municipal Fee 



 

 

Refunds 
 
1. No refund shall be given for an application fee, or fees for a conditional, change of 

use or partial permit. 
 
2. No refund shall be given for permits or inspections valued at $100 or less. 
 
3. Where a permit fee has been paid pursuant to this By-law, fees may be refunded 
 based on the following formula and to Section 6.1 of this By-law: 
 
 Construction or Demolition Permit 

 
  i) 80% where the application is withdrawn or only administrative  
   functions have been performed; 
 
  ii)  50% if administrative, applicable law compliance and plans   
   examination functions have been performed; 
  
iii)  25% if the permit has been issued and the application is withdrawn or construction 
does not commence, or no field inspections have been carried out 
  
iv) No refunds if field inspections have been carried out. 
 
Dormant Building Permit 
 

1. The dormant fee is designed to encourage timely completion of construction 
projects and offset the administrative costs of managing prolonged open permits. 

 
2. No additional fees will be applied during the first two years following the issuance of 

a building permit. 
 

3. Annual fees will apply to permits open beyond two years, starting in year three: 
a. Year 3: $100 fee 
b. Year 4: $100 fee 
c. Year 5: $200 fee 
d. Year 6 and beyond: $500 fee per year. 

 
4. Fee collection begins at the beginning of 2026, providing homeowners and 

contractors additional time to complete ongoing projects. 
 



 

 

 
 

THE CORPORATION OF THE 

TOWN OF COBALT 
 

BY-LAW NO. 2025-39 
 
 

Being a By-Law to Adopt Amendment No. 8 to By-Law 2023-33 to Establish User Fees for  

the Town of Cobalt Facilities and Services  
 

 

WHEREAS the Municipal Act S.O. 2001, c.25, Section 391, allows Municipalities to set user fees By-Laws 
to recover costs for providing certain services or facilities;  
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Council of the Corporation of Town of Cobalt enacts as 
follows: 

1. Amending Schedule “G” – Animal Control User Fees 

IMPOUNDMENT OR DETAINED 2024 2025 2026 

Impoundment Fee $    30.00 $    30.00 $    30.00 

Daily Boarding Fee $    15.00 $    15.00 $    15.00 

Quarantined Animal Daily Boarding Fee $    30.00 $    30.00 $    30.00 

Humane Services/Adoption Fee $    50.00 $    50.00 $    50.00 

Euthanized Services Fee $    70.00 $    70.00 $    70.00 

Disposal of Non-Impounded Animal Fee up to 40lbs $    30.00 $    30.00 $    30.00 

Disposal of Non-Impounded Animal Fee above 40lbs 
to a maximum of 110lbs 

  $    75.00   $    75.00   $    75.00 

Disposal of Non-Impounded Animal Fee above 110lbs $  100.00 $  100.00 $  100.00 

  

TAGS AND LICENSES 2024 2025 2026 

Register a Service Animal $     0.00 

Register an Animal before February 1st  

 Register a spayed or neutered animal      $   10.00      $   10.00      $   10.00 

 Register an unfixed animal $   20.00 $   20.00 $   20.00 

Register an Animal February 1st to December 31st  

 Register a spayed or neutered animal      $   20.00      $   20.00      $   20.00 

 Register an unfixed animal $   30.00 $   30.00 $   30.00 

Senior Citizen Registration Fee 50% discount 

Purchase a Replacement Tag $    5.00 $     5.00 $     5.00 

Register an Animal that was impounded Double the prescribed fee 

  



 

 

KENNEL FEES 2024 2025 2026 

Kennel License Fee $  200.00 $  200.00 $  200.00 

Kennel Inspection Fee $    50.00 $    50.00 $    50.00 
 

TAKEN AS READ a first, second and third time and passed this 22nd day of July, 2025; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the said By-Law be signed and sealed by the Mayor and Clerk.  

 
 
 
 

      
Pat Anderson, Deputy Mayor 

    
 

 
 

      
Steven Dalley, Clerk  

   



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

SCHEDULE TO BY-LAW 2023-33  

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 

 

To Establish User Fees for 2024-2026 

 

 

Legend 

 New Line Item 

 Line Item Update 

  

 



 

 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

SCHEDULE “A” TO BY-LAW 2023-33 

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 

 
 

USER FEES: ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

 

WATER SERVICES – ANNUAL RATES 2024 2025 2026 

Residential Water Operating Rate $   604.20  $   664.62 Subject to Annual Review 

Multi-Residential Water Operating Rate           per unit $   604.20  $   664.62 Subject to Annual Review 

Commercial Water Operating Rate #1   $   483.36                               $   517.20 Subject to Annual Review 

Commercial Water Operating Rate #2  $   906.29 $   969.73 Subject to Annual Review 

Institutional Operating Rate $2,589.41 $2,770.67 Subject to Annual Review 

Water Capital Rate                                     per account $   127.44 $   127.44 Subject to Annual Review 

Connection / Disconnection Fee                 per request $     55.00 $     55.00 Subject to Annual Review 

Delivery Charge – Township of Coleman monthly rate $     49.05 $     49.05 Subject to Annual Review 

  

SEWER SERVICES – ANNUAL RATES 2024 2025 2026 

Residential Sewer Operating Rate             $  231.00     $  231.00   Subject to Annual Review 

Multi-Residential Sewer Operating Rate           per unit   $  231.00     $  231.00   Subject to Annual Review 

Sewer Capital Rate                                    per account $    63.00 $    63.00 Subject to Annual Review 

 
 

WASTE MANAGEMENT FEES 2024 2025 2026 

Waste Management Collection                         per unit                                            $  295.00   $  295.00 Subject to Annual Review 

Garbage Bin (65 Gallon) - Replacement Cart $    75.00 $    80.00 $    85.00 

Recycling Bin (95 Gallon) – Replacement Cart $    85.00 As per Circular Materials As per Circular Materials 

 

 



 

 

 
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 

 

SCHEDULE “A” TO BY-LAW 2023-33 

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 

 

 

 

Commercial Operating Rate #1  

- Library, Museums 

- Medical Office, Private Offices,  

- Retail Stores 

- Post Office 

- Garages/Service Centers 

- Home Businesses  

 

Commercial Operating Rate #2  

- Hotel/Tavern 

- Industrial 

- Restaurants 

- Sports Complex 

- Theatre 

- Barber Shop / Hair Salon 

- Group Home 

 

Institutional Rate 

- Schools 

 
 



 

 

 
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 

 

SCHEDULE “B” TO BY-LAW 2023-33 

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 

 
USER FEES: PROTECTION TO PERSONS & PROPERTY 

 

 

SPECIAL CHARGES – ANNUAL RATES 2024 2025 2026 

OPP                                                                  per unit $  625.00   $  685.00   Subject to Annual Review 

Street Lights                                                      per unit $    20.00 $    20.00 Subject to Annual Review 

 

FIRE REPORT FEES 2024 2025 2026 

File Search $    75.00 $    78.00 $    80.00 

- Fire Regulation Compliance - Residential $    75.00 $    78.00 $    80.00 

- Fire Regulation Compliance - Multi-Residential     
                                                                          per unit 

$    75.00 $    78.00 $    80.00 

- Fire Regulation Compliance - Commercial   $  150.00     $  155.00     $  160.00   

    

FIRE SERVICE FEES 2024 2025 2026 

False Alarms 
- Response to over 3 in one calendar year 

  $  500.00     $  500.00     $  500.00   

Fire Permit January 1 - May 15 $    20.00 $    20.00 $    20.00 

Fire Permit May 16 - December 31 $    30.00 $    30.00 $    30.00 

Motor Vehicle Fires - Non-Resident Current MTO Rates 

Motor Vehicle Collisions – Non-Resident  Current MTO Rates 

Standby Requests / Additional Expenses  
– to retain a private contractor, rent special 
equipment, preserve property or evidence, or in order 
to eliminate an emergency or risk of an emergency 
situation 

Current MTO Rates / Actual Costs 

Response to fires on or beside rail lines caused by 
debris left from maintenance of rail line. 

Current MTO Rates 

Recover Costs of Extinguishing Open-Air Fire Actual Costs 

Replacement of Equipment and Resources Used Actual Costs 



 

 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

SCHEDULE “C” TO BY-LAW 2023-33 

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 
 

USER FEES: ADMINISTRATION 
Fees are per roll & per year unless otherwise noted 

 

CLERK’S SERVICES 2024 2025 2026 

Commissioner of Oaths  $   10.00 $   13.00 $   15.00 

Commissioner of Oaths – Non-Resident $   35.00 $   38.00 $   40.00 

Proof of Residency Letter $   10.00 $   13.00 $   15.00 

Lottery Licensing As per OLG Regulations 

    

ADMINISTRATION  2024 2025 2026 

NSF Cheque Service Charge $   50.00 $   51.00 $   52.00 

Administrative Fee (for Cost Recovery Invoices) 15% 15% 15% 

Property Information Certificate               $ 110.00 $ 120.00 $ 130.00 

Property Information Certificate – Rush   
                                             (less than 5 business days) 

$ 150.00 $ 160.00 $ 170.00 

Duplicate Copy of Property Tax Billing $   10.00 $   10.00 $   10.00 

Statement of Account                               $   10.00 $   10.00 $   10.00 

Past Due Notice $     2.00 $     3.00 $     4.00 

Refund of Payment / Misapplied Payment Correction $   30.00 $   33.00 $   35.00 

Unpaid charges added to the Tax Roll for collection $   30.00 $   33.00 $   35.00 

By-Law Officer – Site Visit / Hand Delivery of Notice $   30.00 $   33.00 $   35.00 

Registered Letter $   25.00 $   28.00 $   30.00 
    

PUBLIC WORKS SERVICE FEES 2024 2025 2026 

Service Call After Hours (min 4 hours)              per hour $ 105.00 $ 110.00 $ 115.00 

Use of Municipal Fleet  MTO Rates  

Labour Rate  Actual Cost  
    

Interest on Overdue Accounts 2024 2025 2026 

Property Tax as per Municipal Act, 2001 s.345(2)(3) 1 ¼ % / month 1 ¼ % / month 1 ¼ % / month 

Utility Billing as per Municipal By-Law 1 ¼ % / month 1 ¼ % / month 1 ¼ % / month 

Accounts Receivable as per Municipal By-Law 1 ¼ % / month 1 ¼ % / month 1 ¼ % / month 



 

 

    

TAX REGISTRATION RATES 2024 2025 2026 

First Warning Letter  $   25.00 $   28.00 $   30.00 

Second Warning Letter $   40.00 $   43.00 $   45.00 

File Preparation         $   80.00 $   90.00 $ 100.00 

Registered Letter       $   25.00 $   28.00 $   30.00 

File Action                  Cost + 15% 

Hand Delivery of Notices $   30.00 $   33.00 $   35.00 

Processing of Property Tax Extension Agreement                              $ 250.00 $ 275.00 $ 300.00 

Cancellation of Tax Arrears Certificate $   80.00 $   90.00 $ 100.00 

Property Tax Sale Tender Packages - Printed Copy $   25.00 $   28.00 $   30.00 

Tender Opening and Examination $ 425.00 $ 450.00 $ 475.00 

Payment into Court    10% of purchase price / minimum of $500.00 

 
 

Municipal Freedom of Information Request  
As per Ministry of Government & Consumer Services 

2024 2025 2026 

Application Fee                                             per request $     5.00 $     5.00 $     5.00 

Photocopies per page (black and white) $     0.20 $     0.20 $     0.20 

Search Time for each 15 minutes $     7.50 $     7.50 $     7.50 

Records Preparation Fee for each 15 minutes      $     7.50      $     7.50      $     7.50 



 

 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

SCHEDULE “D” TO BY-LAW 2023-33 

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 

USER FEES: PLANNING   
 

 2024 2025 2026 

Application Deposit $ 2,000.00 $ 2,000.00 $ 2,000.00 

Pre-Consultation $    325.00 $    325.00 $    325.00 

Official Plan Amendment Application   $ 3,250.00     $ 3,250.00     $ 3,250.00   

Concurrent Official Plan and Zoning By-Law Amendment $ 4,550.00 $ 4,550.00 $ 4,550.00 

Zoning By-Law Amendment Application $ 1,950.00   $ 1,950.00   $ 1,950.00   

Temporary Use By-Law $ 1,950.00 $ 1,950.00 $ 1,950.00 

Removal of Holding Provision $    975.00 $    975.00 $    975.00 

Consent Application $ 1,950.00 $ 1,950.00 $ 1,950.00 

Consent Stamp Review $    325.00 $    325.00 $    325.00 

Certificate of Cancellation $    325.00 $    325.00 $    325.00 

Validation Certificate $ 1,300.00 $ 1,300.00 $ 1,300.00 

Draft Plan of Subdivision/Plan of Condominium Application $ 3,900.00 $ 3,900.00 $ 3,900.00 

Draft Plan Approval Extension $    390.00 $    390.00 $    390.00 

Draft Plan Approval Reinstatement $    390.00 $    390.00 $    390.00 

Part Lot Control Exemption $    975.00 $    975.00 $    975.00 

Site Plan Control $ 2,600.00 $ 2,600.00 $ 2,600.00 

Site Plan Agreement Amendment $ 1,300.00 $ 1,300.00 $ 1,300.00 

Telecommunication Tower Land Use Authority Review $    650.00 $    650.00 $    650.00 

Peer Review Cost Recovery 

3rd Party Ontario Land Tribunal Hearing Cost Recovery  

Legal Fees  Cost Recovery  

Minor Variance Application  $    750.00 $ 1,040.00 $ 1,040.00 

Deeming Application  $    750.00 $    750.00 $    750.00 

Encroachment Agreement Application $      50.00 $      50.00 $      50.00 

Encroachment Agreement Annual Fee $      50.00 $      50.00 $      50.00 

Official Plan – printed copy      (View for free at www.cobalt.ca) $    125.00 $    125.00 $    125.00 

Zoning By-Law – printed copy (View for free at www.cobalt.ca) $    100.00 $    100.00 $    100.00 

Removal of Heritage Designation Application $    750.00 $    750.00 $    750.00 



 

 

 

 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

SCHEDULE “E” TO BY-LAW 2023-33 

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 

 

USER FEES: FACILITIES 
 

 

2024-2026 
 

COMMUNITY HALL RATES Fee 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Subtotal Deposit Total 

Hall Rental $ 350.00 $  45.50 $ 395.50 $ 250.00 $ 645.50 

Service Clubs/Charitable Function Rentals 
(50% discount as per policy) 

$ 175.00 $  22.75 $ 197.75 $ 250.00 $ 447.75 

Rentals under 4 hours  $ 120.00   $  15.60 $ 135.60 No deposit $ 135.60 

Business Centre – Municipal Public Meetings FREE    FREE 

Damage Deposit for Hall                      No HST $ 250.00      $ 250.00 

 

 



 

 

 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

SCHEDULE “F” TO BY-LAW 2023-33 

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 

USER FEES: SILVERLAND CEMETERY 
 

2024-2026 Rates 
 

Resident Rates: Cobalt or Coleman Resident or if last address prior to Long Term Care or Hospital was Cobalt or Coleman 
 

 

PURCHASE OF PLOT Plot Fee 

Care & 
Maintenance 

(40% of sale of plot - 
Provincial Legislation) 

Subtotal 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Total 

Grave – Adult $   750.00 $   300.00 $ 1,050.00 $     97.50 $ 1,147.50 

Grave – Child (17 years and younger) $   600.00 $   240.00 $    840.00 $     78.00 $    918.00 

Cremation Lot $   375.00 $   150.00     $    525.00     $     48.75 $    573.75 

 

PURCHASE OF NICHE Niche Fee 

Care & 
Maintenance 

(40% of sale of plot - 
Provincial Legislation) 

Subtotal 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Total 

Level A (Top – highest level)   $2,500.00 $   375.00 $ 2,875.00 $   325.00 $ 3,200.00 

Level B $2,250.00 $   337.50 $ 2,587.50 $   292.50 $ 2,880.00 

Level C $2,000.00 $   300.00 $ 2,300.00 $   260.00 $ 2,320.00 

Level D (Bottom – lowest level) $1,800.00 $   270.00 $ 2,070.00 $   234.00 $ 2,304.00 

 



 

 

 

 

INTERMENT / DISINTERMENT 
Internment 

Fees 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Total 

Adult $    750.00 $      97.50 $     847.50 

Child (17 years and younger) $    375.00 $      48.75 $     423.75 

Cremation $    375.00 $      48.75 $     423.75 

Columbarium $    375.00 $      48.75 $     423.75 

Disinterment – Full Casket $ 2,250.00 $    292.50 $  2,542.50 

Disinterment – Cremation $ 1,125.00 $    146.25  $  1,271.25 

Disinterment - Columbarium $    375.00 $      48.75 $     423.75 

 

 

MARKER  
Provincial Legislation Fee Marker Fee 

Applicable 
Taxes 

Total 

Flat Marker (smaller than 173in²) $        0.00  $        0.00 

Flat Marker (173in² or larger) $      50.00 $       6.50    $      56.50 

Upright Marker (4ft or less in height and 4ft in length, including the base $    100.00 $     13.00  $    113.00 

Upright Marker (more than 4ftin height and 4ft in length, including the base  $    200.00    $     26.00    $    226.00 

Staking $      38.00 $       4.94    $      42.94 

ADMINISTRATION FEES FEE 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Total 

Replace Internment Rights Certificate $     85.00 $    10.92 $     94.92 



 

 

 

 
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 

 

SCHEDULE “F” TO BY-LAW 2023-33 

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 

USER FEES: SILVERLAND CEMETERY 
 

2024-2026 Rates 
 

Non - Resident Rates  
 

 

PURCHASE OF PLOT Plot Fee 

Care & 
Maintenance 

(40% of sale of plot - 
Provincial Legislation) 

Subtotal 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Total 

Grave – Adult $   900.00 $   360.00 $ 1,260.00 $   117.00 $ 1,377.00 

Grave – Child (17 years and younger) $   720.00 $   288.00 $ 1,008.00 $     93.60 $ 1,101.60 

Cremation Lot $   450.00 $   180.00     $    630.00     $     58.50 $    688.50 

 

PURCHASE OF NICHE Niche Fee 

Care & 
Maintenance 

(40% of sale of plot - 
Provincial Legislation) 

Subtotal 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Total 

Level A (Top – highest level)   $ 2,875.00 $   431.25 $ 3,306.25 $   373.75 $ 3,680.00 

Level B $ 2,587.50 $   388.13 $ 2,975.63 $   336.38 $ 3,312.01 

Level C $ 2,300.00 $   345.00 $ 2,645.00 $   299.00 $ 2,944.00 

Level D (Bottom – lowest level) $ 2,070.00 $   310.50 $ 2,380.50 $   269.10 $ 2,649.60 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTERMENT / DISINTERNMENT 
Internment 

Fees 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Total 

Adult $    900.00 $    117.00 $  1,017.00 

Child (17 years and younger) $    450.00 $      58.50 $     508.50 

Cremation $    450.00 $      58.50 $     508.50 

Columbarium $    450.00 $      58.50 $     508.50 

Disinterment – Full Casket $ 2,700.00 $    351.00 $  3,051.00 

Disinterment – Cremation $ 1,350.00 $    175.50 $  1,525.50 

Disinterment – Columbarium $    450.00 $      58.50 $     508.50 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

MARKER – 
Provincial Legislation Fee 

Marker Fee 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Total 

Flat Marker (smaller than 173in²) $        0.00  $        0.00 

Flat Marker (173in² or larger) $      50.00 $       6.50    $      56.50 

Upright Marker (4ft or less in height and 4ft in length, including the base $    100.00 $     13.00  $    113.00 

Upright Marker (more than 4ftin height and 4ft in length, including the base  $    200.00    $     26.00    $    226.00 

Staking $      38.00 $       4.94    $      42.94 

ADMINISTRATION FEES FEE 
Applicable 

Taxes 
Total 

Replace Internment Rights Certificate $   100.00 $     13.00 $    113.00 



 

 

 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

SCHEDULE “G” TO BY-LAW 2023-33 

As Amended by By-Law 2025-22 

 
 

USER FEES: ANIMAL CONTROL 

 

IMPOUNDMENT OR DETAINED 2024 2025 2026 

Impoundment Fee $    30.00 $    30.00 $    30.00 

Daily Boarding Fee $    15.00 $    15.00 $    15.00 

Quarantined Animal Daily Boarding Fee $    30.00 $    30.00 $    30.00 

Humane Services/Adoption Fee $    50.00 $    50.00 $    50.00 

Euthanized Services Fee $    70.00 $    70.00 $    70.00 

Disposal of Non-Impounded Animal Fee up to 40lbs $    30.00 $    30.00 $    30.00 

Disposal of Non-Impounded Animal Fee above 40lbs 
to a maximum of 110lbs 

  $    75.00   $    75.00   $    75.00 

Disposal of Non-Impounded Animal Fee above 110lbs $  100.00 $  100.00 $  100.00 

  

TAGS AND LICENSES 2024 2025 2026 

Register a Service Animal $     0.00 

Register an Animal before February 1st  

 Register a spayed or neutered animal      $   10.00      $   10.00      $   10.00 

 Register an unfixed animal $   20.00 $   20.00 $   20.00 

Register an Animal February 1st to December 31st  

 Register a spayed or neutered animal      $   20.00      $   20.00      $   20.00 

 Register an unfixed animal $   30.00 $   30.00 $   30.00 

Senior Citizen Registration Fee 50% discount 

Purchase a Replacement Tag $    5.00 $    5.00 $    5.00 

Register an Animal that was impounded Double the prescribed fee 

  

KENNEL FEES 2024 2025 2026 

Kennel License Fee $  200.00 $  200.00 $  200.00 

Kennel Inspection Fee $    50.00 $    50.00 $    50.00 
 



 

 

 
 

THE CORPORATION OF THE 
TOWN OF COBALT 

 

BY-LAW NO. 2025-40 
 

 

Being a By-Law to Confirm the Proceedings of Council  
of the Corporation of the Town of Cobalt 

 

 
WHEREAS pursuant to Section 5(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25 as amended, the 
powers of a municipality shall be exercised by its Council;  
 
AND WHEREAS pursuant to Section 5(3) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25 as amended, 
a municipal power, including a municipality’s capacity rights, powers and privileges under Section 8 
of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25 as amended, shall be exercised by By-Law unless the 
municipality is specifically authorized to do otherwise; 
 
AND WHEREAS it is deemed expedient that the proceedings of the Council of the Corporation of 
the Town of Cobalt at this Session be confirmed and adopted by By-Law. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Cobalt 
hereby enacts as follows: 
 
1. THAT the actions of the Council of The Corporation of the Town of Cobalt in respect of all 

recommendations in reports and minutes of committees, all motions and resolutions and all 
actions passed and taken by the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Cobalt, documents 
and transactions entered into during the December 9, 2025 Council meeting, are hereby 
adopted and confirmed, as if the same were expressly embodied in this By-Law. 

 
2. THAT the Mayor and proper officials of The Corporation of the Town of Cobalt are hereby 

authorized and directed to do all the things necessary to give effect to the action of the Council 
of The Corporation of the Town of Cobalt during the said meetings referred to in paragraph 
1 of this By-Law. 

 
3. THAT the Mayor and the Chief Administrative Officer or Clerk are hereby authorized and 

directed to execute all documents necessary to the action taken by this Council as described 
in Section 1 of this By-Law and to affix the Corporate Seal of The Corporation of the Town of 
Cobalt to all documents referred to in said paragraph 1. 

 
TAKEN AS READ a first, second and third time and passed this 9th day of December, 2025. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the said By-Law be signed and sealed by the Mayor and Clerk.   
 

 
                            ________________________________      
Pat Anderson, Deputy Mayor  Steven Dalley, Clerk 


	5.1 Agenda Regular Meeting December 9, 2025
	6.1 DRAFT Minutes - Regular Meeting November 12, 2025
	6.2 Draft Minutes - Special Meeting November 18, 2025
	6.3 Draft Minutes - Special Meeting November 25, 2025
	8.4 Library Board Member Vacancy
	8.5 Township of Puslinch Council Resolution 2025-382 regarding Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund
	6.17 Municipality of South Huron Council Resolution regarding Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund
	618TOW~1

	8.6 Support Requested_ Nation-Building Improvements to Highways 11_17 (2+1 & Four-Lane Options)
	9.1 NEPH Board of Health - Minutes-October 23, 2025
	9.2 DTSSAB - Q3 2025 Report
	9.3 St James Anglican Church - Financial Request
	10.1 Draft By-Law 2025-38 - Respecting Construction, Demolition and Change of Use Permits and Inspections
	10.2 Draft By-Law 2025-39- Amendment No.8 to User Fee By-Law 2023-33
	16.1 Draft By-Law 2025-40  Confirmation By-Law



